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SAN ANTONIO WATER SYSTEM PURCHASING DEPARTMENT 
 

Issued By: D. Anthony Rubin  Date Issued:  January 26, 2018 

BID NO.:  18-18004   

 

FORMAL INVITATION FOR BIDS 

EMERGENCY CONTRACT FOR CLEANING DIGESTERS AT THE DOS RIOS WRC 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 
 

 

Sealed bids addressed to the Purchasing Director, San Antonio Water System, 2800 US Hwy 281 North, Administration 

Bldg., 5th Floor, San Antonio, TX 78212 will be received until 3:00 p.m., February 5, 2018 and then publicly opened and 

read aloud for furnishing materials or services as described herein below, 

 

The San Antonio Water System Purchasing Department is willing to assist any bidder(s) in the interpretation of bid 

provisions or explanation of how bid forms are to be completed.  Assistance may be received by visiting the Purchasing 

Office in the SAWS Main Office, 2800 US Hwy 281 North, San Antonio, TX 78212, or by calling (210) 233-3819. 

 

 

 

(Contractor’s Insurance Requirements Attached) 

(Bid Bond, Performance Bond & Payment Bond Required) 
 

 

This invitation includes the following: 

 

Invitation for Bids Specifications and General Requirements 

Terms and Conditions of Invitation for Bids  Price Schedule 

 

The undersigned, by his/her signature, represents that he/she is authorized to bind the Bidder to fully comply with the 

Specifications and General Requirements for the amount(s) shown on the accompanying bid sheet(s).  By signing below, 

Bidder has read the entire document and agreed to the terms therein. 

  

Signer’s Name: ________________________________ Firm Name: ___________________________________ 

 (Please Print or Type)  

 Address: ______________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 

Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Bid  City, State, Zip Code: ___________________________ 

  

Email Address: _______________________________   Telephone No.: ________________________________ 

 

 Fax No.:   _____________________________________ 

Please complete the following: 

Prompt Payment Discount:  ______% _______days.  (If no discount is offered, Net 30 will apply.) 

 

Please check the following blanks which apply to your company: 

Ownership of firm (51% or more): 

___Non-minority     ____Hispanic     ___African-American   ____Other Minority (specify)  ____________________ 

___Female Owned ___Handicapped Owned ___Small Business (less than $1 million annual receipts or 100 employees) 

Indicate Status:   ___Partnership   ___Corporation   ____Sole Proprietorship   ____Other (specify)  _______________ 

Tax Identification Number:____________________ 
 

To report suspected ethics violations impacting the San Antonio Water System, please call 1-800-687-1918. 
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This Addendum no. 1 is being issued to revise the Price Schedule to reflect lump sum pricing, modify the 

specification and to provide response to the question submitted.   

 

The following change is made to the Award criteria paragraph 8 of the standard requirements: 

Read: 

8. Award will be made to the overall lowest responsible bidder whose price has been determined to be fair 

and reasonable.   

Changed to Read: 

 

8. Award will be made to the overall lowest responsible bidder for Item 1 of the price schedule.  If in the best 

interest SAWS chose to award the Alternate Item 2, award will be made to the overall lowest responsible 

bidder for both items whose price has been determined to be fair and reasonable.   

 

 

PRICE SCHEDULE 

 

Item Description 

QTY Unit of 

Measure 

Extended 

Price 

1 

 

 

Digester Cleaning for 1 Digester - The 

total amount for furnishing all labor, materials, 
tools, equipment, dewatering, transportation, 
disposal and incidentals required for the 
cleaning of digesters in accordance with the 
contract documents, complete in place.  

 

 

1 

 

 

Lump 

Sum 

$ 

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

2 

 

 

ADD ALTERNATE Digester Cleaning 

for 1 Digester - The total amount for 

furnishing all labor, materials, tools, 
equipment, dewatering, transportation, 
disposal and incidentals required for the 
cleaning of digesters in accordance with the 
contract documents, complete in place. 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

 

Lump 

Sum 

$ 

 

 

TOTAL ITEM 1 & 2 $ 

 

 

 

IT IS NECESSARY TO RETURN THIS ADDENDUM TOGETHER WITH YOUR BID.
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Removed the following sections: 

1.8 SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 

 

4. Gas safety measures shall be taken which may include purging lines with inert gas prior to 

cutting in valves. 

5. During venting of digester, monitor methane content in atmosphere near digester. 

a. No work shall occur during venting of digester except for connection of valves. 

CONTRACTOR shall minimize the venting and provide safety equipment to avoid 

collection of the gas in the explosive limits in the area. 

b. After venting to atmosphere is ceased, continue to monitor atmosphere and not begin 

work until gas levels are below allowable limits. 

7. Temporary blind flanges shall be installed to biosolids/gas piping to prevent backflow of 

digester gas during the digester cleaning and shall be removed upon completion of the 

digester cleaning. 

 

3.4 BIOSOLIDS Sampling 

C. The Contractor may be required to have up to ten (10) additional laboratory analysis (“spot checks”) 

performed for each digester by the third party laboratory approved by the Owner as required in the 

Cleaning Plan. The timing and location of these samples will be determined by the Owner’s 

Construction Inspector. 

 

3.12 INSPECTION OF DIGESTER and sludge holding tank 

5. CONTRACTOR shall also install scaffolding or provide mechanical lifting devices to allow 

ENGINEER and OWNER to inspect the interior of the digester dome and walls. 

a. Scaffolding shall allow inspection full height and perimeter of digester. 

b. Scaffolding used for epoxy injection may also be used to facilitate inspection. 

c. Scaffolding shall have steps with handrails for climbing safety. 

 

 

Added the following sections: 

1.8 SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 

8. CONTRACTOR will have an onsite designated safety representative(s) and will provide their 

contact information to the OWNER.   

 

1.9  sequencing and scheduling 

C. The CONTRACTOR is allowed to work on the plant between the hours of 6:00 AM to 6:00 PM, seven days a 

week.  Any work outside of these hours by the CONTRACTOR will require a written request from the CONTRACTOR 

and the OWNER’s approval.  

 

Modified the following sections: 

3.6 DISPOSAL OF THE REMOVED MATERIALS 

A. Comply with all Local, State and Federal Regulations concerning the removal, hauling, and disposal of 

the removed materials specified. Disposal shall be at a registered or permitted co-disposal landfill (Type 

1). 

  



 

 

RESPONSE TO QUESTION SUBMITTED: 

 

1. Will San Antonio Water consider pricing the digester cleaning by the dry ton vs. lump sum?    Answer:  No, 

this is a firm fix price contract. Bidder will need to take all cost factor into consideration for bid proposes.   

2. Bidder requests that fuel escalation charges may be applied on a monthly basis. Is this correct?  Answer: 

No, this is a firm fix price contract. Bidder will need to take all cost factor into consideration for bid 

proposes.    

3. Bidder assumes that if a change in Federal, State, or Local law or ordinance take effect after the contract is 

executed, resulting in increased costs to perform the work, that both parties will negotiate a price 

modification.  Is this correct?  Answer:  No, this is a firm fix price contract. Bidder will need to take all cost 

factor into consideration for bid proposes.   

4. Bidder requests a waiver of any consequential damages. Is this acceptable?  Answer: No 

5. Bidder requests a definitive start date be provided?  Answer: The tentative start date is the end of February. 

6. Bidder requests to include the following language to the indemnification provision:  Indemnification will be 

provided to the extent Contractor is responsible for the cause of the indemnified action(s), and Contractor 

will not provide indemnification for damages caused by the negligence or misconduct of the Authority?  

Answer: The indemnification language is as lenient as allow for a municipality.  

7. Bidder assumes that if a force majeure event occurs, that neither party will be responsible for delays in the 

performance of the work (payment terms notwithstanding).  The affected party shall notify the other in 

writing, and the Agreement can be terminated if the force majeure event lasts longer than 90 days.  Is this 

correct?  Answer:  There is no language in this bid/contract that reference force majeure.  In the event of a 

force majeure occurrence it would have to be address at that time.   

8. Please confirm the volume that will be inside of the digester when it is turned over to the contractor for 

cleaning. What will the sidewall depth of the remaining material be after it is drawn down?  Answer: The 

digester will be drained to leave approximately 1/3 of the total digester volume for the contractor to remove.  

9. Please confirm that scaffolding is not required?  Answer: Correct, Section 3.12.B will removed from the 

cleaning specification in the addendum.    

10. Per page 22 of the specs, it is stated that the tank must be pressure washed at 3000 PSI within 5 ft from the 

surface. At the prebid meeting, it was mentioned that firehose clean would be acceptable. Please confirm 

that firehose clean is acceptable?  Answer:  Correct, Section 3.12.B will be removed from the cleaning 

specification in the addendum. The contractor will only need to wash down the digester to completely 

remove foreign materials from concrete surfaces after the removal of the contents.  

11. Would a price submitted as a dry ton rate or gallon rate and a mobilization fee be acceptable to the owner in 

lieu of lump sum pricing?  Answer:   No, this is a firm fix price contract. Bidder will need to take all cost 

factor into consideration for bid proposes.    

12. If the alternate bid for digester #4 is also awarded, what is the estimated down time between digester 

cleanings?  Answer:  It is expected that the down time between digester cleaning will be approximately 4 

weeks, however the down time could be shorter.   

13. Please provide drawings of the mixing system in digester #4?  Answer: This will be posted along with the 

addendum.   

14. Lump sum pricing is requested. It is assumed that it should be assumed that the digester would be one third 

full at the start of the work which would mean the tank would be 10’ full on the sidewall. Is this correct?  



 

 

Answer:  Yes, the digester will be drained to leave approximately 1/3 of the total digester volume for the 

contractor to remove. 

15. Please confirm that that the scaffolding and power washing requirements will be taken out of the 

specifications?  Answer:  Yes, Section 3.12.B will be removed in the addendum.  

16. Working hours may start at 6am and end at 6pm if desired, correct?  Answer:  Yes, the contractor is 

allowed to work on the plant between the hours of 6:00 AM to 6:00 PM, seven days a week.  Any work 

outside of these hours by the contractor will require a written request from the contractor and the owner’s 

approval.  

17. What polymer does the WWTP use for operating the WWTP belt filter presses?  Answer:  Polydyne C6254 

18. How will low bid be determined? Based on the bid for Digester #6 or based on Digester #6 plus the alternate 

digester bid item?  Answer: Low bid is based on the bid for Digester #6, however if based on funding, it is 

determined that both Digester #6 and the alternate digester will be cleaned - it will be based on the 

combined total low bid for both Digester #6 and the alternate low bid. 

19. Please clarify the bid form. Says digester and sludge storage tank in each bid item?  Answer:  This will be 

revised in the addendum to state only digester. 

20. Is it correct to assume that less than 4 weeks will occur between digesters?  Answer:  Yes, it is expected 

that there will be approximately 4 weeks between the cleaning of Digester #6 and the alternate digester, 

however the down time could possibly be shorter. 

21. Will there be any charge for water used?  Answer:  No, but a water meter will be required per the 

specifications. 

22. Will the digesters and or sludge holding tanks be available back to back?  Answer:  It is expected there will 

be approximately 4 weeks between the cleaning of Digester #6 and the alternate digester if the alternate 

digester is cleaned, however the down time could possibly be shorter. 

23. If not will there be a delay between them?  Answer:  See answer to Question #22. 

24. If there is a delay how long will that be?  This affects the demobilization and remobilization of personnel 

and equipment for the second digester or sludge holding tank?  Answer:: See the response to Question #22.   

25. We would request a modification to the lump sum pricing structure to a mobilization and demobilization 

price with a dry ton unit rate for whatever is removed from the digesters?  Answer:  See the response to 

Question #1 

26. With this pricing structure the city will not over pay if there is a smaller volume than estimated by the 

contractor and the contractor will not be under-paid if there is a larger volume than estimated. This would 

allow the contractor to tighten our numbers being paid for only the material removed instead of guessing of 

the amount?  Answer:  See the response to Question #1  

27. With the damage to the digester, how stable is the roof to for personnel access to lower pumping equipment 

into the digester?  Answer: After discussions with a structural engineer, the roof is presumed to be stable 

for access for standard cleaning operations, however no heavy equipment and no more than two people 

should be on the roof during the cleaning operations.  

28. What is the weight limit on the digester roof?  Answer:  the weight limit is not known by the owner, but it is 

assumed stable for standard cleaning operations (see the response to Question #27).  

29. With the damage to the top of the digester sidewall, what safety precautions are being taken by the owner to 

insure there will not be a collapse?   Answer: there are no special safety precautions being taken by the 

owner and the digester is assumed to be stable for standard cleaning operations. 

30.  Who would be deemed responsible should something happen outside the control of the contractor?  

Answer: See the response to Question #7.  



 

 

31. In Scope of Work, section  11382 Digester and Sludge Holding Tank Cleaning Part 1.1.3 submittals; is this 

list of information required with the contractors bid or after award?  Answer:  the submittals will be 

required after award except for the list of references which could be requested before award. 

32. What hours can a contractor work?  Seven day a week; Twelve hours a day if necessary?  Answer:  See the 

response to Question #18. 

33. Is there a cost for plant water or fire hydrant water?  Answer:  See the response to Question #21.  

34. Will digester #6 be pulled down to the ten-foot level or 1/3 by the time contactor arrives?  Answer:  Yes. 

35. If digester is above the 1/3 level when the contractor arrives on site, will the contractor be compensated for 

the work above that level? If so how?  Or can you let everyone know what the level is when you finished 

pumping?  Answer:  No, the contractor will not be compensated for any variation in the digester level. The 

digester is currently at approximately 1/3 full and ready for cleaning. 

36. Can the contactor take a monthly draw on the project?  Answer:  No, the contract will be paid in full on 

completion and acceptance in accordance with payment terms.  Refer to paragraph 11 INVOICING, 

PAYMENT AND DISCOUNTS on page 5.  

37. Is it still a requirement to provide 3000 PSI pressure washing services to clean tank and/or provide 

scaffolding/lift for tank inspection?  Answer:  No, see Answer #10. 

38.  Will this be a lump sum bid as discussed in the pre-bid meeting?  Answer:  See response to Question #1. 

 


















